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EMLIOM GARZA, Crcuit Judge:

Sandy Steen, Jr., was convicted of possession with intent to
di stribute cocai ne base. See 21 U.S.C. 8 841(a)(1) (1988). Bernel
Rui z was convicted of felony possession of cocaine base. See 21
US C 8§ 844(a) (1988). Steen and Ruiz appeal their convictions
and sentences. W affirm Steen's conviction and sentence.
Concerning Ruiz, we reverse in part, affirmin part, and remand for
resent enci ng.

I

On the day of the events surrounding this case, Oficer Cook

of the San Antonio Police Departnent's Repeat Ofender Program

recei ved word that Steen, whomt he police wanted on two out st andi ng



warrants, was on his way to Ruiz' girlfriend s apartnent. Cook
observed Steen and Ruiz arrive at the apartnent. Steen carried a
bei ge bag upstairs into the apartnent.

A backup SWAT team arrived shortly thereafter; one officer
went to the back of the apartnment building and two went to the
front door. The officers knocked on the door, observed a curtain
in the wi ndow nove, and announced their presence. The officer in
the rear of the building radioed that "they" were throw ng what
appeared to be contai ners of cocaine out of the apartnent and into
a nearby drainage ditch

The officers attenpted to enter the apartnent through the
front door, but they could not do so because a couch had been
pushed agai nst the door. An officer asked one of the occupants to
nove the couch, and he did so. The officers took both Steen and
Rui z into custody. Steen had white powder on his hands that | ater
tested positive for cocaine base. Ruiz also had white powder on
his arns, but he had cut his right wist badly, and was transported
to a hospital for treatnent. Because the white powder on Ruiz was
washed away during treatnent, it was not tested.

The officers found cocai ne base on the apartnent's carpet,
pati o, and m crowave oven. A broken beaker contai ning cocai ne base
lay in the sink, and there was bl ood on the sides of the sink. The
officers found a triple-beamscale next tothe sink. Inthe |living
room an officer found a | oaded LI ama 0.9 mmsem - aut omati ¢ handgun

in a beige bag.



A federal grand jury indicted Steen and Rui z, charging both
W th conspiracy to possess with intent to distribute cocai ne base
in violation of 21 US C 88 841(a)(l) and 846 (1988), and
possession with intent to distribute cocaine base in violation of
21 U S.C § 841(a)(1). Steen was also charged with using or
carrying a firearm during the commssion of a drug trafficking
offense, in violation of 18 U S.C. 8§ 924(c)(1).

Steen was found guilty of possessionwth intent to distribute
cocai ne base, but he was found not guilty on the conspiracy and
firearmcounts. Ruiz was found not guilty of both the conspiracy
and possession with intent to distribute counts, but the jury found
himguilty of a lesser-included offense of felony possession of
cocai ne base in violation of 21 U S. C. § 844(a).

Based on his prior felony drug convictions, Steen was
sentenced as arecidivist tolife inprisonnment. Ruiz was sentenced
to five years' inprisonnent and three years' supervised rel ease.
Steen and Rui z each appeal fromtheir conviction and sentence.

I
A

Steen argues that the district court should not have enhanced

his sentence under 21 U S.C. § 841! because the Governnent failed

to conmply with the notice procedures of 21 US C § 851(a).

1 Section 841(b)(1)(A) provides that "[i]f any person conmits a
violation of this [section] after two or nore prior convictions for a felony drug
of f ense have becone final, such person shall be sentenced to a mandatory term of
life inmprisonment wthout release . "

-3-



Section 851(a) states that:

No person who stands convicted of an offense under this

part shall be sentenced to i ncreased puni shnment by reason

of one or nore prior convictions, unless before trial, or

before entry of a plea of guilty, the United States

attorney files an information with the court (and serves

a copy of such information on the person or counsel for

the person) stating in witing the previous convictions

to be relied upon. . . . Clerical mstakes in the

information nmay be anended at any tine prior to the

pronouncenent of sentence.

21 U S.C 8 851(a)(1l) (1988). The sufficiency of a § 851(a)
information is a question of | aw, therefore, we revi ewthe adequacy
of the Governnent's conpliance with 8 851(a) de novo. See United
States v. Wlie, 919 F.2d 969, 972 (5th Gr. 1990) (review ng
sufficiency of indictnment or information de novo); see also infra
t ext acconpanying note 5 (noting functional simlarity of 8§ 851(a)
i nformati on and indictnent).

The Governnent acknowl edges that the information it filed
prior totrial msstated the nunber of the court in which Steen had
previ ously been convicted and incorrectly stated that one of the
convictions was for delivery rather than possession of cocaine.
However, the Governnent argues that these i naccuraci es anount to no
nmore than clerical errors that it properly corrected by anmendnent
prior to sentencing. Steen concedes in his reply brief that the
i ncorrect court nunber was a clerical error, but he argues that the
m sstated identification of the offense renders the information
i nsufficient.

If the prosecution fails to conply with 8 851's procedura

requi renents, a district court cannot enhance a defendant's
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sent ence. See United States v. Noland, 495 F.2d 529, 533 (5th
Cr.) (stating that filing requirenent is "a strict condition on
[ 8§ 851's] exercise"), cert. denied, 419 U S. 966, 95 S. Ct. 228, 42
L. BEd. 2d 181 (1974).2 W assune, wthout holding, that the
incorrect description was not a clerical error.® Therefore, if

there were any material defect in the original information, the

2 See also Suveges v. United States, 7 F.3d 6, 10 (1st Cir. 1993)
(noting that "[t]he filing of such an informational notice is jurisdictional");
United States v. Bel anger, 970 F.2d 416, 418 (7th Gr. 1992) ("Failure to file
the notice prior to trial deprives the district court of jurisdiction to inpose
an enhanced sentence."); United States v. Waver, 905 F. 2d 1466, 1481 (11th Gr.
1990) (requiring strict conpliance with procedural requirenments), cert. denied,
498 U.S. 1091, 111 S. . 972, 112 L. Ed. 2d 1058 (1991); United States v.
Wllianms, 899 F.2d 1526, 1529 (6th G r. 1990) (holding that, because statutory
wor di ng nandat ory, court coul d not excuse failure to file information even though
def endant agreed prior to trial that enhanced penalty applied); H R Rep. No
1444, 91st Cong., 2d Sess. (1970), reprinted in 1970 U S.C.C A N 5626, 5678
[herei nafter House Report] (stating that purpose of section is to "prescribe[]
the procedure for establishing prior convictions so as to authorize inposition
of an increased penalty upon a subsequent conviction").

3 Section 851 does not define "clerical error." However, the Federa

Rul es of Civil Procedure, the Federal Rules of Crimnal Procedure, and casel aw
applylng t hose rul es prOV|de gui dance on what constitutes clerical error. See
Fed. R Civ. P. 60(a) ("Cerical mstakes in judgnents, orders or other parts of
the record and errors therein ar|S|ng fromoversi ght or oni ssion nay be corrected
" Fed. R Cim P. 36 ("Cerical nmstakes in judgnments, orders or other
parts of the record and errors in the record arising fromoversight or oni ssion
nmay be corrected . . ."); see al so American Trucking Ass'ns v. Frisco Transp.
Co., 358 U. S. 133, 145 79 S. . 170, 177, 3 L. Ed. 172 (1958) ("It is axiomatic
that courts have the power and t he duty to correct judgnments which contain
clerical errors or judgnents which have i ssued due to i nadvertence or m stake.");
Matter of West Texas Marketing Corp., 12 F.3d 497, 504 (5th Cr. 1994) ("In sum
the relevant test for the applicability of Rule 60(a) is whether the change
affects substantive rights of the parties and is therefore beyond the scope of
Rule 60(a) or it instead a clerical error, a copying or conputational m stake,
which is correctabl e under the Rule."); id. ("It is only m ndl ess and mechani stic
m st akes, minor shifting of facts, and no new additional |egal peranbul ations
whi ch are reachabl e t hrough Rule 60(a)"); Harcon Barge Co. v. D&G Boat Rental s,
Inc., 784 F.2d 665, 668-69 (5th Gir.) (en banc) (noting that scope of Rule 60(a)
is "very limted" and "[c]orrection of an error of “substantive judgnent,’
therefore, is outside the reach of Rule 60(a)."), cert. denied, 479 U S. 930, 107
S. . 398, 93 L. Ed. 2d 351 (1986); Jones v. Anderson-Tully Co., 722 F.2d 211
212 (5th Cir. 1984) (holding that clerical errors "must be in the nature of
recitation" and "not errors of substantive judgnment"); Dura-Wod Treating Co. v.
Century Forest Indus., Inc., 694 F.2d 112, 114 (5th Cr. 1982) ("Rul e 60(a) finds
application where the record nakes apparent that the court intended one thing but
by nerely clerical mstake or oversight did another. Such a mi stake nust not be
one of judgnment or even of msidentification, but nerely of recitation
nechani cal in nature.").
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Governnent's correction was untinely and would not cure such a
defect.* Accordingly, we Iimt our evaluation of the Government's
conpliance wwth 8§ 851(a) to the information filed prior to trial.
The question, therefore, is whether the Governnent's identification
of Steen's prior conviction, even wth its inaccuracy, was
nonet hel ess sufficient to satisfy 8§ 851(a).

Thi s court has never specifically addressed the sufficiency of
notice in a 8 851 informati on. However, we can | ook for guidance
to our evaluation of the sufficiency of notice in an indictnent,
however, because "an enhancenent i nformati on perfornms a functionin
sent enci ng anal ogous to the function an indictnment or information
performs in bringing the initial charges.” United States v.
Garcia, 954 F.2d 273, 276 (5th Gr. 1992). That purpose, as we
have already stated, is to provide defendants with the notice
necessary to allowthemto chall enge the contents of the indictnent

or information.® "Practical rather than technical considerations

4 Lack of surprise due to an anended filing "carries no weight in the
face of the plain words of [§ 851(a)]." Noland, 495 F.2d at 533. Therefore, a
material error in a § 851(a) information that is not corrected prior to trial
cannot be harm ess. 1d.; see also Neary v. United States, 998 F. 2d 563, 565 (8th
Cr. 1993) (holding that harm ess error does not apply to 8 851 requirenents);
United States v. A son, 716 F.2d 850, 852 (11th Cr. 1983) (hol ding that doctrine
of harnml ess error does not apply to failure to conply with § 851(a)). W note
that these cases rejecting harm ess error under § 851 all dealt with the timng
of the notice, not its form See, e.g., Noland, 495 F.2d at 532 (information
filed one day after sentencing).

5 See United States v. Nevers, 7 F.3d 59, 63 (5th Cr. 1993) (noting
that indictment is sufficient if it "describe[s] the specific facts and
ci rcunst ances surroundi ng the of fense in question in such a manner as to inform
t he defendant of the particular offense charged"), cert. denied, __ US _
114 s. &. 1124, 127 L. Ed. 2d 432 (1994); United States v. Chappell, 6 F.3d
1095, 1099 (5th Cr. 1993) ("An indictnent need only charge the essential
el enents of the offense, permtting the accused to prepare a defense . . . ."),
cert. denied, ___ US _ , 114 S, . 1232, 127 L. Ed. 2d 576 (1994); United
States v. Shelton, 937 F.2d 140, 142 (5th Gr.) (" An indictrment is sufficient
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govern resolution of [indictnent] challenges and we wll not
reverse for m nor deficiencies which do not prejudice the accused.”
Chappell, 6 F.3d at 1099.

Steen argues that § 851 establishes a notice standard hi gher
than that which is nerely constitutionally sufficient. The plain
| anguage of 8§ 851(a) requires that an information "stat[e] in
writing the previous convictions to be relied upon.” Nowhere in
the statute, however, did Congress prescribe the formthat such a
statenent nust take or what data would suffice. Accordingly, we
|l ook to the statute's legislative history for further guidance.

I n the Conprehensive Drug Abuse Prevention and Control Act of
1970,° Congress substantially altered the <crimnal ©penalty
provi sions for drug offenses, rejecting the forner, rigid mandatory
sentencing schene in favor of one with nore flexibility and

judicial discretion.” In the Act, Congress expressed its concern

if it contains the el ements of the offense charged, fairly inforns the def endant
what charge he nust be prepared to neet . . . ." (quoting United States v.
Gordon, 780 F.2d 1165, 1169 (5th CGr. 1986)), cert. denied, 502 U S. 990, 112 S
C. 607, 116 L. Ed. 2d 630 (1991); United States v. Boyett, 923 F.2d 378, 378-78
n.1 (5th Gr.) (declining to reverse conviction where indi ctnment cited i ncorrect
statute, because "[t]he error was not one that could have reasonably m sled the
defendant to his prejudice"), cert. denied, 502 U.S. 809, 112 S. . 53, 116 L.
Ed. 2d 30 (1991); see also Fed. R Cim P. 7(c)(1) (requiring only essenti al
facts).

6 Pub. L. No. 91-513, 84 Stat. 1292.

l See House Report, supra note 3, at 5627 (noting that one purpose of
bill was to "provid[e] for an overall bal anced schenme of crimnal penalties for
of fenses involving drugs"); id. at 5630 ("The bill revises the entire structure
of crimnal penalties involving controlled drugs by providi ng a consi stent nmet hod
of treatnent for all persons accused of violations."); id. at 5647-48 ("The
penalty structure set forth in the reported bill provides a flexible system of
penalties for Federal offenses . . . ."). Section 851 as enacted contains no
substantial differences fromthe rel evant provision to which the House Report
refers.
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that the mandatory m ni num sentence schene had over puni shed first
of fenders and had not achieved the desired deterrent effect.?
Accordi ngly, Congress elimnated mandatory m ni mum sentences for
all except the "professional" drug offenders. | d. The
congressional discussions concerning the sentencing enhancenent
provi sions of the Act are scant, but one principle does energe:
Because repeat drug offenders face significantly harsher sentences
than do first offenders, Congress intended that defendants receive
notice of the prior convictions on which the court is relying in
time for the defendants to chall enge the use of those convictions.?®
In order to facilitate this intent, Congress included in the Act a
requi renent that the notice be given before trial, rather than

before sentencing as the previous statute had provided.® O her

8 See House Report, supra note 3:

The severity of existing penalties, involving in many instances
m ni rum mandatory sentences, ha[s] led in nmany instances to
rel uctance on the part of prosecutors to prosecute sone violations,
where the penalties seemto be out of line with the seriousness of
the offense. . . . The committee feels, therefore that making the
penalty structure in the law nore flexible can actually serve to
have a nore deterrent effect than existing penalties.
Id. at 5636.

9 See Bel anger, 970 F.2d at 418 (stating that 8 851 was enacted to
satisfy due process requirenment of notice and opportunity to be heard); cf.
Nol and, 495 F.2d at 533 ("Provision for enhanced sentencing is a legislative
deci sion, and the procedure the | egislature prescribes to effectuate its purpose
nmust be foll owed.").

10

provi ded:

[A]fter conviction of any of fense under the act, the U S. attorney

shal |l advise the court whether the conviction is the offender's

first or subsequent offense. |If it is not the first offense, the

U S attorney shall file an information setting forth the offender's

prior convictions which he shall affirmor deny.
S. Rep. No. 613, 91st Cong., 1st Sess. 27 (1969). Congress chose to replace this
provision with a pretrial notice requirenent.

Congress' original proposal, which tracked the prior statute,
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than specifying the required timng, however, Congress did not
prescribe any other elenment of the notice. W therefore concl ude
that a district court may enhance a defendant's sentence, as |ong
as the Governnent provides constitutionally sufficient notice of
the previous convictions through an information filed prior to
trial.

The information filed by the Governnent stated the date of
conviction, the venue, and the cause nunber of the case for each of
Steen's prior convictions. The error occurred because the
Gover nnent described what it believed to be the charged offense,
not that to which Steen had pled guilty. This error, however,
negates the notice provided by the other listed data only if the

di screpancy msled Steen to his prejudice.?

1 See United States v. CGonzal ez-Lerma, 14 F.3d 1479, 1485 (10th GCir.)
(holding information sufficient even though it did not include date and case
nunber of prior conviction), cert. denied, ___ US _ , 114 S . 1862, 128 L.

Ed. 2d 484 (1994); Belanger, 970 F.2d at 419 (holding two-part notice to be
accept abl e because it contained all necessary information and both notices were
filed before trial); United States v. Wight, 932 F.2d 868, 882 (10th Gr.)
(holding that information filed after initial indictnent but not refiled after
super sedi ng i ndi ct ment was sufficient for § 851), cert. denied, 502 U. S. 962, 112
S. C. 428, 116 L. Ed. 2d 448 (1991).

12 See Fed. R Oim P. 7(c)(3) ("Error in the citations or its onission

shall not be ground for dismssal of the indictment or information or for
reversal of a conviction if the error or omission did not nislead the def endant
to the defendant's prejudice."); Nevers, 7 F.3d at 63 (noting that courts "will
not reverse a conviction because of an error in the indictnent unless that error
msled the defendant to his or her prejudice"); Shelton, 937 F.2d at 143
(affirming validity of indictrment where statutory basis and description provi ded
notice and refusing to reverse for nonprejudicial errors); United States v.
Wlie, 919 F.2d 969, 973 (5th Cr. 1990) (holding deletion of defendant's nane
fromcodefendant's i ndictnent is harm ess if def endant not mi sl ed prejudicially);
United States v. Quintero, 872 F.2d 107, 111 (5th Cr. 1989) (" Surplusage in an
indictment may generally be disregarded where the charge is not naterially
br oadened and the accused is not msled.'" (quoting United States v. Trice, 823
F.2d 80, 89 n.8 (5th Gr. 1987))), cert. denied, 496 U.S. 905, 110 S. . 2586,
110 L. Ed. 2d 267 (1990); United States v. Branch, 850 F.2d 1080, 1082 (5th Gr.
1988) (holding that mscitation of statutory basis was harnless because
"[d] ef endant clearly knew what illegality he was accused of having committed"),
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Al though Steen did not file his 8§ 851(c) challenge to the
Governnent's information until after the start of the trial,®® the
record indicates that Steen challenged the adm ssibility of the
prior convictions in a pretrial notion. In that notion, Steen
stated that because both prior convictions were for possession
only, they were not sufficiently simlar to the charged offenses to
be adm ssi bl e. Steen therefore admtted that he knew that the
prior offenses that the Governnent intended to use were the two
prior possession convictions described in the 8 851 information.
Thus, Steen hinself admtted that he had notice of the prior
convictions before trial, and that the incorrect description of the
second conviction did not mslead him W hold that the
Governnent's information satisfied the sufficiency requirenent
under 8§ 851(a). See (Gonzal ez-Lerma, 14 F.3d at 1486 (holding
information to be sufficient because it "signalled the governnent's
intention to rely upon a particular prior conviction," and nore
specifics were available prior to trial).

B
Steen al so argues that his sentence should not stand because

the district court failed to conply with the coll oquy requirenents

cert. denied, 496 U S. 1018, 109 S. Ct. 816, 102 L. Ed. 2d 806 (1989).

13 Section 851(c) prescribes the procedure by which a defendant
chal | enges the convictions listed in the Governnent's § 851(a) information. 21

U S.C. § 851(c) (1988).
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of section 851(b) of Title 21, which states that:

If the United States attorney files an information under

[ section 851], the court shall after conviction but

bef ore pronouncenent of sentence inquire of the person

W th respect to whomthe i nformati on was fil ed whet her he

affirns or denies that he has been previously convicted

as alleged in the informati on, and shall informhimthat

any challenge to a prior conviction which is not nade

before sentence is inposed may not thereafter be raised

to attack the sentence.
21 U S. C 8§ 851(b) (1988). W have held that a district court need
not use the literal terns of 8 851(b) if it is clear from the
circunstances that the defendant does not contest the validity of
his prior convictions. See Garcia, 954 F.2d at 277 (hol di ng that
j udge's questioning of defendant regarding prior convictions such
that defendant admtted validity of those convictions satisfied
8 851(b), especially when defendant never challenged the validity
of those convictions); see also Waver, 905 F.2d at 1482 (hol di ng
that court's failure to specifically inquire of defendant regarding
convictions "understandable when considered in context" of
defendant's adm ssion of validity of prior conviction and court
di scussed prior convictions with defendant during review of PSI).
Steen admitted the previous convictions in his own testinony.
Moreover, the colloquy at sentencing indicates that the district

court inquired as to whether Steen chall enged the convictions:

THE GOVERNMENT: | believe that the Governnent has
satisfied its burden, has shown

14 Steen relies on outdated caselaw in arguing that substanti al
conpl i ance does not satisfy § 851(b). |In Garcia, 954 F.2d at 276-77, this court
di smssed as dicta the commentary in United States v. Garcia, 526 F.2d 958 (5th
Cr. 1976) and United States v. Cevallos, 538 F.2d 1122 (5th Cr. 1976),
regardi ng the doubtful sufficiency of substantial conpliance.
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t hrough the enhancenent that M.
Steen is a recidivist, that he has
two prior felony drug convictions,
and we believe that M. Steen was
gi ven notice of this.

The Court under 851 shoul d cal
upon M.Steen to either admt or
deny these two offenses. | would
argue to the Court that from the
wWtness stand M. Steen at the
course of trial admtted he had both
of these felony <convictions for
possessi on of cocaine, but to keep
the record clear | believe that the
court should ask him to admt or
deny those offenses.

THE COURT: All right, M. Steen, do you have
anyt hing you want to say?

STEEN: No, sir.

THE COURT: Did | ask hima while ago?

STEEN S ATTORNEY: No, you didn't, Your Honor.

THE COURT: You don't have anything you want to
say?

STEEN: No, sir.

We hold that this discussion, taken in context along with Steen's
adm ssion of the prior convictions, satisfies 8§ 851(b). Garcia,
954 F.2d at 277; Waver, 905 F.2d at 1482. Accordi ngly, the

district court did not err in enhancing Steen's sentence.?®®

15 Steen al so argues that his sentence violated the Fifth Amendnent's

guar antee of equal protection on the grounds that the higher sentencing ranges
for cocai ne base as conpared to cocai ne powder inpact blacks nore severely than
whites. This argunment has no nerit; this Court and every other Crcuit that has
addressed this argunent has rejected it. See, e.g., United States v. Gall oway,
951 F.2d 64, 65-66 (5th Cr. 1992); United States v. Watson, 953 F.2d 895, 898

(5th Gr.), cert. denied, ___US __ , 112 S. C. 1989, _ L. B 2d _
(1992); accord United States v. dary, 34 F.3d 709 (8th Gr. 1994), cert. deni ed,
_us _ , 115 s. ¢. 1172, 130 L. Ed. 2d 1126 (1995); United States v.
Stevens, 19 F.3d 93, 97 (2d Cr. 1994); United States v. Frazier, 981 F.2d 92,
95 (3d Gr.), cert. denied, _ US __ , 113 S. . 1661, 123 L. Ed. 2d 279
(1993); United States v. D Anjou, 16 F.3d 604, 612 (4th Gr.), cert. denied, _
Uus _ , 114 s . 2754, 129 L. Ed. 2d 871 (1994); United States v. Reece, 994
F.2d 277, 278-79 (6th Cr. 1993); United States v. Scott, 19 F.3d 1238, 1246 (7th
CGr.), cert. denied, u. S , 115 S. &. 163, 130 L. Ed. 2d 101 (1994);

United States v. Chandler, 996 F.2d 917, 918 (7th Gr. 1993); United States V.
Lawence, 951 F.2d 751 (7th Cir. 1991);United States v. Harding, 971 F.2d 410,
413-14 (9th Gr. 1992), cert. deni ed, u. S , 113 S. &. 1025, 122 L. HEd.

2d 170 (1993); United States v. Turner, 928 F.2d 956, 959-60 (10th Gr.), cert.
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C

Steen |l astly argues that the absence of African-Anericans from
his jury violated his constitutional right to a jury that fairly
represented a cross-section of the community.!® The Suprenme Court
has held that:

In order to establish a prim facie violation of the

fair-cross-section requirenent, the defendant nust show

(1) that the group alleged to be excluded is a

“distinctive' group in the community; (2) that the

representation of this groupin venires fromwhich juries

are selected is not fair and reasonable in relation to

t he nunber of such persons in the community; and (3) that

this underrepresentation is due to systematic excl usion

of the group in the jury selection process.
Duren v. Mssouri, 439 U.S. 357, 364, 99 S. Ct. 664, 668, 58 L. Ed.
2d 579 (1979); see also Powers v. Ohio, 499 U S. 400, 404, 111 S.
Ct. 1364, 1367, 113 L. Ed. 2d 411 (1991) ("Although a defendant has
no right to a petit jury conposed in whole or in part of persons
of [the defendant's] own race,’' he or she does have the right to be
tried by a jury whose nenbers are selected by nondiscrimnatory

criteria." (quoting Strauder v. West Virginia, 100 U S. 303, 305,

denied, 502 U. S. 801, 112 S. C. 230, 116 L. Ed. 2d 187 (1991); United States v.
Sol onon, 848 F.2d 156, 157-58 (11th G r. 1988); United States v. Cyrus, 890 F.2d
1245, 1248 (D.C. Gr. 1989). Steen contends that he raises a different theory,
that is, that Congress exhibited discrimnatory intent in enacting the statute
as a result of "unconscious racism" W find no nmerit in these argunment. See
Gal l oway, 951 F.2d at 66 (rejecting argunment that Congress had discrimnatory
intent).

16 During voir dire, Steen's counsel objected to the initial panel of
thirty persons on the grounds that no African-Ameri cans had been included. The
jury pool of approximately fifty persons had i ncluded one African-Anerican, but
the random sel ection of the initial panel had not included this person. The
court responded that it could either overrule the objection or add the African-
Anerican venireperson to theinitial panel. Counsel for the Governnment objected,
stating that addi ng anyone arbitrarily to the panel would violate the statutory
requi renent that the panel be selected at random
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10 O to 303, 305, 25 L. Ed. 664 (1880)).

Steen contends that his jury pool did not reasonably reflect
the racial conposition of the community. "[l]n holding that petit
juries nmust be drawn from a source fairly representative of the
comunity we inpose no requirenent that petit juries actually
chosen nust mrror the community and reflect the wvarious
distinctive groups in the population. Defendants are not entitled

to a jury of any particular conposition Tayl or v.
Loui siana, 419 U. S. 522, 538, 95 S. . 692, 702, 42 L. Ed. 2d 690
(1975). In the relevant community, African-Anmericans account for
3.95%o0f the eligible population. This corresponds to 1.89 persons
inajury pool of the sane size as fornmed in this case, and there
was actually one African-Anerican in the jury pool.

W need not decide whether the jury pool in this case
reasonably mrrors the racial conposition of the comunity, because
Steen fails to satisfy the third Duren el enent. St een does not
provi de any evidence of systematic exclusion of African-Anericans
fromthe jury selection process. See United States v. Lopez, 588
F.2d 450, 451-51 (5th Cr.) (requiring show ng that "the excl usion
of a particular mnority group fromjury service is due to sone
formof intentional discrimnation"), cert. denied, 442 U S. 947,
99 S. . 2895, 61 L. Ed. 2d 319 (1979). Indeed, we find no basis

inthe record to support even Steen's assertion that the prosecutor

excluded African-Anericans from this jury on account of their
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race. '’
11
A

Ruiz first contends that he was not properly convicted of
f el ony possessi on of cocai ne base. Although the jury found hi mnot
guilty of possession with intent to distribute cocai ne base, they
found hi mguilty of fel ony possession as a | esser-included of f ense.
Ruiz contends that his conviction under the third sentence of
section 844(a) was legally insufficient as a |esser-included
of fense of section 841(a)(1l), under which he was charged.

"The district court may give a lesser included offense
instruction if, but only if, (1) the elenents of the offense are a
subset of the elenents of the charged offense, and (2) the evidence
at trial permts ajury torationally find the defendant guilty of
the | esser offense yet acquit himof the greater.” United States
v. Deisch, 20 F.3d 139, 142 (5th Cr. 1994). Accordi ngly, the
district court in this case properly gave the § 844(a) |esser-
i ncl uded-of fense instruction "only if all of the el enents of sinple
possessi on pursuant to section 844 were al so el enents of possession

wth intent to distribute pursuant to section 841(a)(1)." 1d. at

o The record reflects that the prosecutor objected to the addition of

the African-American venireperson to the jury panel because such an arbitrary
procedure woul d violate statutory random sel ection requirenments. See 28 U S.C
8§ 1861 (1988) ("It is the policy of the United States that all litigants in
Federal courts entitled to trial by jury shall have the right to grand and petit
juries selected at random from a fair cross section of the community in the
district or divisionwhereinthe court convenes."); United States v. Kennedy, 548
F.2d 608, 610-11 (5th Gr.) (holding that use of volunteers or other arbitrary
sel ection nethods viol ated statutory requirement of randomjury pool sel ection),
cert. denied, 434 U S 865 98 S. . 199, 94 L. Ed. 2d (1977).
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143. In Deisch, this Court held that felony possession under
§ 844(a)'® requires that the substance at i ssue be cocai ne base and
consequently includes an elenent not included in § 841(a)(1).1°
Accordingly, felony possession under 8 844(a) cannot be a |esser-
i ncl uded of fense of § 841(a)(1l), "even if, as here, the indictnent
all eges that the controll ed substance i s cocai ne base," id. at 152,
and, as the Governnent acknow edges, Rui z' felony conviction cannot
st and. However, "sinple possession of cocaine, contrary to the
first sentence of section 844(a),? may be a | esser included of fense
under a charge of possessing cocaine with intent to distribute it
contrary to section 841(a)(1)," id. As in Deisch, our reversal of
Rui z' felony conviction "does not require that we set aside the
jury's verdict which necessarily found [the defendant] guilty of a
violation of the first sentence of section 844(a)." | d.
Accordingly, as in Deisch, we remand for resentencing for

nm sdeneanor possession of a controlled substance. 2!

18 The third sentence of § 844(a) states the felony possession of fense:

"[ A] person convicted under this subsection for the possession of a mxture or
subst ance whi ch contai ns cocai ne base shall be inprisoned not |ess than 5 years

19 Section 841(a)(1) provides that "it shall be unlawful for any person
knowingly or intentionally . . . to possess with intent to . . . distribute
a control |l ed substance.”

20 The first sentence of § 844(a) provides that "[i]t shall be unl awf ul
for any person knowingly or intentionally to possess a controlled substance

21 Qur remand to resentence Rui z for m sdenmeanor possession renders noot

his argunents that (1) the quantity of cocaine is an elenent of the felony
possession offense, (2) the general verdict on felony possession was
insufficient, and (3) the district court inproperly sentenced Ruiz for a § 844(a)
fel ony possession violation.
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B

Ruiz also argues that the evidence was not sufficient to
convict him of m sdeneanor possession of a controlled substance.
W will affirmsuch a conviction if any reasonable jury could have
found each essential elenent of the offense beyond a reasonable
doubt. United States v. Flores-Chapa, 48 F.3d 156, 161 (5th Cr.
1995). In making this determnation, we "view] the evidence and
the inferences that may be drawn from it in the |ight nost
favorable to the verdict." United States v. Harris, 25 F.3d 1275,
1279 (5th Gr.) (quoting United States v. Sparks, 2 F.3d 574, 579
(5th Gir. 1993), cert. denied, ___ US __ , 114 S. C. 899, 127 L.
Ed. 2d 91 (1994))), cert. denied, ___ US. __ , 115 S. Ct. 458, 130
L. Ed. 2d 366 (1994). WMbreover, we accept all credibility choices
that support the jury's verdict, Harris, 25 F.3d at 1279, letting
jurors "use their comobn sense and apply comon know edge,
observation, and experience gained in the ordinary affairs of life
when giving effect to the inferences that may reasonably be drawn
fromthe evidence," Flores-Chapa, 48 F.3d at 161. The el enents of
t he m sdeneanor possession offense under § 844 are 1) know ng, 2)
possession, 3) of a controlled substance. Deisch, 20 F. 3d at 144-
45, Rui z challenges the possession and know edge elenents,
concedi ng that cocaine base is a controll ed substance.

Rui z contends that the evidence was not sufficient to prove
beyond a reasonable doubt that he possessed the cocaine base

Constructive as well as actual possession wll suffice. United
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States v. Onick, 889 F.2d 1425, 1429 (5th Gr. 1989); United States
v. Ferg, 504 F.2d 914, 916 (5th Cr. 1974). "Constructive
possession is defined as ownership, domnion, or control over
illegal drugs or dom ni on over the prem ses where drugs are found."
Onick, 889 F.2d at 1429.% Either direct or circunstantial evidence
can support a finding of possession. Onick, 889 F.2d at 1429
Ferg, 504 F.2d at 916.

Rui z argues that he was nerely present at the apartnent and
t hus di d not possess the cocai ne base. Wil e presence al one cannot
sustain a conviction,? Ruiz was nore than nerely present. During

the events at issue, Ruiz had control over the apartnent. I n

22 See also Flores-Chapa, 48 F.3d at 162 ("Proof of constructive

possession is sufficient; thus, any showing that the defendant exercised
owner shi p, domi nion, or control of the drugs, or of the prenises on which they
are found, will suffice."); United States v. Ml i nar-Apodaca, 889 F.2d 1417, 1423
(5th Gr. 1989) (defining "constructive possession as "the knowi ng exerci se of,
or the knowing power or right to exercise domnion and control over the
prescribed substance'" (citations onmtted)); Ferg, 504 F.2d at 916-17 ("In order
to establish constructive possession, the government nust produce evidence
showi ng ownership, dominion, or control over the contraband itself or the
prem ses or vehicle in which the contraband is concealed."); United States v.
Martin, 483 F.2d 974, 974-75 (5th Cir. 1973) ("To establish constructive
possessi on, however, there nust be proof of dom nion and control.").

23 United States v. Cordova-Larios, 907 F.2d 40, 42 (5th Cir. 1990)
("Mere presence in the area where drugs are found is insufficient to support a
findi ng of possession."); United States v. Sandoval, 847 F.2d 179, 185 (5th Cir.
1988) ("[We have not hesitated to reverse a conviction when the evidence has
shown only that the defendant ran with bad conpany . . . ."); United States v.
Cardenas, 748 F.2d 1015, 1019-20 (5th Cr. 1984) ("To find constructive
possessi on, however, nore evi dence than nere physical proxinity of the defendant
to the controlled substance is required."); United States v. Gordon, 700 F.2d
215, 216-17 (5th Gr. 1983) (reversing conviction where defendant only present
at scene and no additional connecting evidence); United States v. Sneed, 705 F. 2d
745, 749-50 (5th Cr. 1983) (finding evidence insufficient where defendant's
father owned prem ses and defendant only present day before drug snuggling
occurred), abrogated on other grounds by R chardson v. United States, 468 U S
317, 104 S. . 3081, 82 L. Ed. 2d 242 (1984); Ferg, 504 F.2d at 917 (observing
that "“nere presence in the area where the narcotic is discovered or nere
association with the person who does control the drug or the property where it
islocated, isinsufficient to support a finding of possession.'" (quoting United
States v. Stephenson, 474 F.2d 1353, 1355 (5th Cir. 1973))).
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addition, an officer testified that Ruiz had white powder on his
arns. % The energency room physician also testified that he
observed a white, powdery substance on Ruiz' arnms. Although the
subst ance observed on Ruiz was not tested, the white powder found
on Steen's hands tested positive for cocaine. Also, Ruiz's blood
was found on the sink in which the officers found a flask
containing cocaine. This evidence was nore than sufficient for a
reasonable jury to find that Rui z possessed a control | ed subst ance.

Rui z al so contends that the evidence was not sufficient to

prove beyond a reasonable doubt that he know ngly possessed

control | ed substance. "Because know edge and i ntent are subj ective
el emrents, direct proof is not required. The elenments nmay be
inferred from the circunstances of the case." United States v.

Ledezma- Her nandez, 729 F.2d 310, 314 (5th Cr. 1984). W can infer
know edge from suspicious circunstances that denonstrate the
def endant' s consciousness of guilt. United States v. Anchondo-
Sandoval, 910 F.2d 1234, 1236 (5th Gr. 1990) (noting that while
control of storage place al one does not show know edge, "the court
will sustain a jury's determnation if other circunstances
denonstrate consci ousness of guilt”). These circunstances include
nervousness and inconsistent, i npl ausi bl e, or fabri cated
expl anations for the defendant's possession of the drugs. United

States v. Carillo-Mrales, 27 F.3d 1054, 1064-65 (5th G r. 1994)

24 Rui z argues that the testinony of the one officer who stated that he

had not seen any white powder on Ruiz' arnms negates a finding of possession.
However, we view the evidence in the verdict's favor, not Ruiz'.
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(noting that know edge can be inferred from control if other
suspi ci ous circunstances exi st and that "additional factors such as
nervousness or inconsistent stories given by the defendant [can]
provi de that circunstantial evidence"), cert. denied, US|
115 S. CG. 1163, 130 L. Ed. 2d 1119 (1995); United States v.
Ri chardson, 848 F.2d 509, 513 (5th Cr. 1988) (holding that
i nconsi stent or fabricated statenents indicated guilty know edge).

Ruiz told the officers first that he cut his arm on sone
dishes in the sink and |ater that he cut his armw th a knife, but
t he evidence reflects that there were neither dishes nor a knife in
t he sink. He told the energency room physician that the white
powder was flour. Also, one of the officers testified that Ruiz
| ooked nervous when he cane out on the porch. Moreover, cocaine
base was in plain view in the dining room and kitchen of the
apart nent. This evidence is sufficient to sustain a finding of
know edge. See Carillo-Mrales, 27 F.3d at 1065 (hol di ng evi dence
sufficient where defendant was nervous, and drugs were in plain
view); Anchondo- Sandoval, 910 F.2d at 1237 (holding that
constructive possession plus inconsistent statenents sufficed to

show knowi ng possession). 2

25 W also find the totality of the evidence nore than sufficient to

support Ruiz' conviction. See Cardenas, 748 F.2d at 1020 (basing sufficiency
determ nation not "on any one single factor, but after a careful consideration
of all the evidence together. . . . [I]n law, unlike plane geonetry, the whole
nmay be greater than the nmere sum of the parts."); see also United States v.
Stanl ey, 24 F.3d 1314, 1320-21 (5th Cr. 1994) (noting that court has "affirned
convi ctions when the defendant's [constructive possession] is conbined with
evidence that the defendant was nervous, nade conflicting statenments to
authorities, or related inplausible stories to authorities"); Ledeznma-Hernandez,
729 F.2d at 314 (sane).

-20-



C

Ruiz lastly argues that the district court erred in admtting
Steen's out-of-court statenent that he was going to the apartnent
to teach his "cousin" to cook crack cocaine. He contends that the
statenent was hearsay and was not adm ssible against him?2 "[A]
prior statenment of a witness who is available to testify at trial
is admssibleonly if it isinconsistent with his trial testinony."
United States v. Geer, 939 F.2d 1076, 1097 (5th GCr. 1991),
nmodi fi ed on other grounds, 968 F.2d 433 (5th Cr. 1992) (en banc),
cert. denied, = US __ , 113 S. C. 1390, 122 L. Ed. 2d 764
(1993). The statenent was admitted to inpeach Steen, because he
had deni ed nmaki ng any statenent about crack cocaine to the officer
at the scene. Ruiz argues, however, that the district court erred
in failing to give alimting instruction informng the jury that
they could only consider the statenent as evidence agai nst Steen.

Parties nust object to errors in the district court in a
tinmely manner; or otherwise they risk forfeiture of the right
i npi nged upon by the error. United States v. Calverley, 37 F.3d
160, 162 (5th Cir. 1994) (en banc) ("[T]he failure of alitigant to
assert a right in the trial court likely will result in its
forfeiture."), cert. denied, = US |, 115 S C. 1266, 131 L.
Ed. 2d 145 (1995). Ruiz failed to object at trial to the |lack of

26 W note that, because Ruiz had the opportunity to cross-exam ne
Steen, Bruton v. United States does not require exclusion. See Bruton, 391 U S
123, 127-28, 88 S. C. 1620, 1623, 20 L. Ed. 2d 476 (1968) (holding that
adm ssi on of codefendant's statements violated Confrontation C ause i f defendant
had no opportunity to cross-exan ne because codefendant did not testify).
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alimting instruction. "In exceptional circunstances, appellate
courts may, in the interests of justice, notice errors to which no
objection has been nuade. Such circunstances are sharply
circunscribed by the plain error standard . . . ." | d.
Accordingly, we review the district court's decision to admt
Steen's statenent without a l[imting instruction for plain error.
See Fed. R Cim P. 52(b) ("Plain errors or defects affecting
substantial rights may be noti ced al t hough t hey were not brought to
the attention of the court.").?

In determning whether the district court commtted plain
error, we conduct a two-part analysis. United States v. A ano,
us. __ , __, 113 s. . 1770, 1777, 123 L. Ed. 2d 508 (1993).
First, we determine if there was error at all,? and if so, whether

the error was plain?® and affected the defendant's substanti al

21 See also United States v. Branch, 989 F.2d 752, 756 (5th Cir.)
(review ng absence of jury instruction for plain error), cert. denied, __ US
__, 113 s. . 3060, 125 L. Ed. 2d 742 (1993); United States v. Stafford, 983
F.2d 25, 26 (5th Gr. 1993) ("Wen an onission froma jury charge is raised for
the first tine on appeal, we reviewonly for plain error."); United States v.
Wal drip, 981 F.2d 799, 805 (5th Gir. 1993) (noting that if defendant does not
request alimting instruction, appellate court determ nes "whether the district
court conmitted plain error in failing sua sponte to give the instruction").

28 Qano, ___ US at __ , 113 S . at 1777 ("The first linitation on
appel l ate authority under Rule 52(b) is that there indeed be an “error."'"); see
al so Calverley, 37 F.3d at 162 (stating that first element of analysis requires
that there be error); United States v. Rodriguez, 15 F.3d 408, 415 (5th Cir.
1994) (sane).

29 Qano, ___ US. at __ , 113 S . at 1777 (requiring plain error and
stating that "“[p]lain' is synonynbus wth “clear' or, equivalently,
“obvious.'"); Calverley, 37 F.3d at 162-63 (stating that plain , "[a]t a
m ni mum ' contenplates an error which was “clear under current law at the tine
of trial." (quoting Dano, __ US at _ , 113 S. C. at 1777)).
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rights.3 |If a party can satisfy these requirenents, the appellate
court has discretionto correct the error, but "only if the [error]
"seriously affect[ed] the fairness, integrity, or public reputation

of judicial proceedings. Calverley, 37 F.3d at 164 (quoting
United States v. Atkinson, 297 U S. 157, 160, 56 S. C. 391, 392,
80 L. Ed. 555 (1936)); accord Rodriguez, 15 F.3d at 416.

We need not deci de whether to exercise our discretioninthis
case, because even if the failure to give a limting instruction
was error, Ruiz cannot prove that the error prejudiced his
substantial rights. As we have already expl ai ned, see supra part
I1.B.2, the other evidence against Ruiz was nore than sufficient to
convict him Steen's statenent thus constituted cunulative
evi dence, not necessary to the sufficiency of the jury's verdict.
See Waldrip, 981 F.2d at 805 (holding that adm ssion of evidence
was not plain error because it was not "extrenely damaging” in
I'ight of other evidence against defendant). Consequently, the
district court's adm ssion of Steen's statenent without a limting
instruction was not plain error.

|V

For the foregoing reasons, we AFFIRM Steen's conviction and

sent ence. W also REVERSE Ruiz' felony conviction, AFFIRM the

30 Qano, ___ US at ___, 113 S. . at 1777-78 ("The third and fina
limtation on appellate authority under Rule 52(b) is that the plain error
“affec[t] substantial rights.'" (quoting F.R Crim P. 52(b))); Calverley, 37
F.3d at 164 ("dano counsels that in nost cases the affecting of substantia
rights requires that the error be prejudicial; it nust affect the outcome of the
proceeding."); Rodriguez, 15 F.3d at 415 (requiring a "specific show ng of
prej udi ce").
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jury's verdict as a msdeneanor conviction, and REMAND for

resentenci ng for m sdeneanor possession of a controll ed substance.
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